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The rural vilrage of Durham in pictou county, Nova scotia,
paral1e1s both sides of the east River of Pictou. At present it
consists of a canteen, a large white wooden church building and

church haI1, dD automobile salvage yard and a number of houses

surrounded by some of the richest farm land in the county. rn
common with many other loca1 village areas 1 in pictou county,
Durham is not now what it was at the turn of the century, and a
very different place from what it was at the tirne with which hre are
concerned in this paper. Long gone are the days when i.t was home to
an inportant Post office 2, an rnn with an enviable reputation for
hospi-tality ', several general stores, a shoe shop, tinsmith and

blacksmith shops, a Gramnar Schoo} a and two presbyterian churches,
one on either side of the West River.5

Alr that remains of these signs of former prosperity is one of the
two churches, the most imposing building in the virrage. with
respect to educational facilities, there are no schools in Durham

.e.g- creen HiII, saltsprings, Rocklin, west Branchretc., allof which were community centres with postal services, stores,shops, mil1s of various kinds and schools
2 Ranking second in the county and fourth in the province.
3 The Temperance rnn, owned and operated by Mr. and Mrs. JohnMaccoul. There were four rnns in the vilIale, three of thern

l- icensed.
a Daniel MacDonald, first school inspector for pictou county,was teacher and supervisor of the crammai schoor.
5 central church, oD the west side of the river, establishedin 1856 and the old church on the east side of the river, nearwhere the present community hall is located.



in the present day. However, there ras a sign on the east side of

the river, just as one crossed the bridge, that must have intrigued

visitors to the area just as it was so nuch taken for granted by

those who have always lived there that now it is largely forgotten.

Co1lege Road runs down the east side of the river past more of the

farming land for which the West River valley has long been

renowned. Col1ege Road is the only reminder that for a space of ten

years Durharn was the home of the west River seminary and

Theological Ha1I. And rnight be today a centre of higher education

in the province had not a series of political, econornical and

personal interests decreed that its usefulness to the Presbyterian

Church of Nova Scotia would be better served if it were located in

a larger centre of population. In l-858 it was moved to Truro, Nova

Scotia, then to Gerrish Street, Halifax, andwas Iater, in 1-878, in

union with the Free Church Col1ege, to become part of the Pine HitI

Divinity Hall on the north west arm of the capital city. Pine Hill

Divinity Hal1 became one of the founding theological institutions

of the ecumenical Atlantic School of Theology'

The story of the West River Seminary has been told in a number of

ways.6 For the most part it has been told as one part of the larger

6 As for example in the short articles or papers by the
following : John Currie,
Fresent,-and future,eresbyterian Witness, 7 Nov.,L891; K'J' Grant'

t_

ffiequestofPrincipa1l'1ackinnon,24Nov.,I92o,n.p.;
Ada S. MacDonald, e
PANS , YoL .2 . , f'tC. f ; Cf arence MackinnonrA Hundred YeArs of

! 
--- 

?-t!!-^--sbyterian Witness,
,3 OctJSZO ; ,fanes Maclean, Presbyterian College' Halifax' The

Theologue, vol. vlll, March L897, No. 4.pp. 101-L05i .Isaac l{urray'
iirtorl".i SX"t"n. Presbyterian Witness, 30 April, l'904 i rrA

@tet to the Editor, Presbyterian witness,3
Nov. ,L849. p.350; W. McCulloch Thompson, The west River seminarv'
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history of arts and theological education in Nova Scotia

genera1ly.7

The scope of this present paper will be linited to an examination

of various academic and non-academic matters as they relate to the

Seminary alone. The focus will be narrowed, in the main, to deal

with the curriculum and with other issues as they relate to it. fn

another paper the same approach will be taken toward the life and

work of the Theological Ha11 which, although it operated in tandem

with the work of the Seminary and was under the control of the same

Synod and shared the same facilities, was a separate institution in

its own right.
The first theological education in British North America in

connection with the Presbyterian Church began in the autumn of L820

in Pictou. Dr. Thomas McCulloch was the only professor and he

taught his students in a room in the Pictou Academy. The Academy,

about which much has been written, provided an Arts education

preparing men for the study of law, medicine, theology and science.

The theological instruction given by Dr. McCulloch, in addition to

his heavy teaching and administrative responsibilities in the

Academy, met an obvj-ous need. fn L824 twelve students graduated

from his program of instruction, some of whom were to become alrnost

An Address At The Centenary, Eastern Chronicle, 23 Sep. L948i
William Verwolf, West River Seminary, The MacGregor Celebration
Addresses, Frank Baird, €d.,L936. pp. 249-259. n.p.

7 E. Arthur Betts , The Keir Period,1844 - 1860, pp.14 - L7 in
Pine HiIl Divinity Ha1l , I82o - L97O . Executive Print , Truro ,
N.S. l97O ; J.W. Falconer, W.G. Watson , The West River Period,l-848
-1858 ,pp.9 l-0 , in A Brief History of The Pine Hill Divinity
Hal1 And The Theological Departrnent of Mount Allison University ,
n.d. rD.p..



as legendary in their tirne as their famous professor did in his.
The thoroughness of their education in Arts and Theology was

confirrned when three of them, on going to scotrand, presented

themselves for examination to the Senatus of the University of
G1asgow.8 They were granted the degree ltaster of Arts, with
distinction, without further work or examination. It appears that
the theological instruction given voluntarily and on his own tirne
by Dr. McCulloch was resented in some guarters from its beginning.
fnterference from the Halifax Council, which vetoed funds to the
Academy in favour of Kings college, windsor, and the often
aggressive hostility of fellow presbyterians, ministers of the
Church of Scotland, who were contemptuous of any attempt to train
a natj-ve ministry, meant that eventually the Pictou Acaderny and the
Theological HaII along with it, were rendered unable to continue as

they had hoped to do. fn l-838 the Academy was reduced to the status
of a Grammar School. fn the same year when Dr. McCulloch went to
Halifax, to assume the presidency of Dalhousie corlege, the
Theological Hall went with hirn. It met in his home until his death

in 1843. The synod appointed as his successors Dr. Keir of
Princetown, P.E.r., as professor of Theology, and the Rev. James

Ross, West Riverr Els the Professor of Biblical Literature. The

theological instruction then moved to Prince Edward Island, where

once again it was located in the hone of the professor. The

students had the advantage not only of the erudition of their
professor but easy access to his splendid personal library as well.
The Theological HaIl, a pretentious title for the theological

8 Messers John L. Murdoch, John Maclean, and R. s. patterson.



I

instruction of the day, shifted once again in 1848. This time it
moved to the West River and to the home of Professor Ross, with
three students in attendance.e

The Synod, or at least a najority of the Synod, became increasingly

unhappy with the failurer €rS far as they were concerned, of the

reorganized Pictou Acaderny to provide the education necessary as a

prereguisite to the study of theology. 10 Therefore, in 1848, the

Synod passed a resolution to set up a Seninary of its own. Such a

Seminary would provide an Arts education, independeni of government

control or interference and dependant solely on the voluntary

support of the church. The Rev.James Ross, already the Professor of
Biblical Literature in the Theological Hall, was elected Professor

of the Seminary as well and charged with responsibility for the

entire curriculum. '11 James Ross was not a stranger to the work of

education. He had been a teacher in Sackville, New Brunswickrwhen,

as a young manrin l-835r'he responded to an invitation to succeed

his father in the church at Durham. That he continued his interest
in education prior to the opening of the Seminary, and while he was

e The house and farm of James Ross eventually passed into the
hands of the Maxwell farnily, and from the estate of the late
Williarn Maxwell to Mr. Arnold Cock, whose widow is the present
occupant.

10 There was a difference of opinion at the Synod meetings
prior to the opening of the Seminary in 1848. There were those, in
the minority as it turned out, who felt that the preparation at the
Academy was adequate and, if not, that it ought to be restructured
so as to be adequate, in preference to the creation of a new and
therefore more expensive facility elsewhere.

11 rrFor two years he carried on his college work in conjunction
with that of the pastorate. He was then relieved of his charge, and
for some years performed, alone, the work of a whole faculty of
arts.rr (underlining rnine). Tribute paid to Dr. Ross at Synod,
Oct., 1855, reported in Presbyterian Witness, 20 March, LBB6.
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the Professor of Biblical Literature in the Theological Hall, is

reflected in the minutes of Synod for L847 .On that occasion he

announced his intention rr to visit some of the Theological

Seminaries in the United States for the purpose of observing the

manner in which these Institutions are conducted and of otherwise

promoting the efficiency of the course of Theological Study to be

prosecuted in the Church.rr 12 The Serninary, although established

and funded by the Presbyterian Church of Nova Scotia, was, unlike

Kings College, Wj-ndsor, without denominational limitations with

respect to students.l3 From the outset the students were mainly

from the parent denornination of the Seminary, but as time went on

there were students from other presbyterian bodies as weII.

Then,too, while the Seminary was founded to prepare young men in

Arts subjects for the study of theology prior to ordination, it
provided the same liberal arts education to those who eventually

pursued careers in teaching, law and medicine. la When the

Seminary opened on 9th November, l-848, it had a registration of L2

students. Despite the criticisn both fron those who were opponents

12 Minutes of
Scotia ,1847rp111.

Synod,The Presbyterian Church of Nova

13 rrThere shall be no Religious test in the adrnission of
Students.'r Article Xl of the Bye-Laws of the Seminary, BS approved
by Synod in 1852.

14 rThe Seminary shal} be open to all who desire instruction
in any of the branches therein taught.rr Article IX ,Bye-Laws of the
Theological Seminary of the Presbyterian Church of Nova Scotia.
Sanctioned By Synod, 1852. As witness the exanplesrfor instance, of
James McGregor, one of its brightest students, son of Dr. McGregor,
who went into the business world, where he was a success and the
founding rnember of what was for many years an important County
business firn in New Glasgow and of Dr. David Mclean, educatwd at
the Seminary, who studied rnedicine at Philadelphia and Edinburgh,
and who died in Stellarton on 30 August,l-876.
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of the project in principIe,15 and fron those who sincerely

believed the proposed scheme of education at West River to be

impossible of achievement, the level of instruction from the

beginning would seem to have been remarkably denanding. This is

evidenced in a nurnber of ways. There are, for example, the reports

in the press of the day and in the minutes of the Board of

Superintendence of the lectures with which each session of the

Seminary and Theological Hal1 were opened and of the oral

examinations with which each session of these inStitutions was

closed. In conjunction with the method or system of examinations at

the close of each session, to which I shall return later, there is

abundant information on the number and nature of the essays written

or other research projects carried out each session by the students

in the Seminary and Theological Ha1l. In addition to the results of

the instruction, as demonstrated in the examination process, we are

fortunate to have at least one significant example of the

instruction itself as it relates to the Seminary. This exanple

comes in the form of Notes Taken From Professor Rossrs Lectures On

Moral Philosophy The notes were taken by a studentrJohn

McDonald, in 1853. These notes, beautifully written in the manner

and language of the tine, and because of that very difficult to

read today, represent some twenty-four lectures delivered and

15 A memorial from the Prince Street Congregation, Pictou, to
the Synod meeting in Pictou, 1850, asked rr the Synod to reconsider
its decisions in reference to the Philosophical classes recently
established at the West Rj-ver.It The Synod gave full debate to the
issue raised in the memorial and replied by reaffirming, in the
strongest terms, its commitment to the Seninary as its best means
of providing instruction preparatory to theological studies.rl
Minutes of Synod, 28 June, 1850. p.L68; Reported in Presbyterian
Witness, 6 July, 1850. P.211-.



recorded between May 5th and June 9th of that year. 16 The lecture

sessions, given daily with the exception of Saturday and Sunday,

must have lasted well beyond and hour in each case, with some

lectures lasting easily two or three tirnes that long. The notes

taken by Mr. McDonald, occupying some 238 closely written pages,

and concluding with the terse conment End of Part First are a

thoughtful development of the course description advertised in the

public notice of the Seminary. 17 The notice, part of a scheme to

make known the opportunities for a liberal education to the widest

possible audience, 18 j-ncludes a brief description of the various

course offerings for each of the four years in the Seminary. Moral

Philosophy was offered to students in their second year, along with

Greek, Latin and Mathematics. According to the course description

for Moral- Philosophy, it included 'rThe origin of Action and the

nature of Power; the freedom of the will, the Mechanical, Animal,

and Rational Principles of Actioni the nature and standard of

Virtue; the existence of the Deity; the innortality of the SouI;

Duty, ds indicated by the light of naturei Man in a state of

nature; the origin and processes of the Arts and Sciences; Law;

16 The lecture notes were carefully transcribed for me by Miss
Fern MacDonald, thus rnaking available a wealth of i.nforrnation that
is otherwise virtually impossible to read with any facility. I am
further indebted to Miss MacDonald for the additional materials
supptied me on a continuing basis as a consequence of her research
in various archival centres in the course of her professional work.

17 Presbyterian Witness, 25 Nov., 1854. p.190.
18 By action of the Board of Superintendence, 1 March ,1854,

it was agreed that for at least three months in advance of the
opening of the Seminary , notices should be placed in the Nova
Scotian, the Eastern Chronicle, the Presbyterian Witness and the
Mi-ssionary Register.
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Government and Po1itical Economy. rr 1e with respect to the notes

taken by Mr. McDonald of Professor Rossr lectures we have this
professional opinion: rrThe notes appear to be verbatim accounts of

the lectures, given the very polished style and the appositeness of

the terrninology. The lectures are of a very high standard,

certainly for the context. They are clear, weII argued and suggest

a very thorough acquaintance with the philosophical literature as

it would have been in 1853. The standard would certainly be

comparable to what one might expect in a good undergiaduate course

in moral philosophy in the context of a theology faculty the

theological interest is manifest e.g. in the discussion of rrfree

wiI1.rr It would certainly have been the foundation for a good first

or second year university course text. The only additional thing

one would expect in that context would be some more reference to

the particular writers and schools of thought which are addressed

sometimes in a rather general manner - in other words, w€ have the

text without the footnotes. Professor Rossrs students would appear

to have benefited from a very clear, precise and informative

account of the subject rnatter of moral philosophy, conbining

adnirable precision of language with a good pedagogical approach.

I am no authority on theological studies in the period concerned,

but I suspect you would not often have found better or even as good

in the seminary context probably not in many universities

either. rr 20

1e Presbyterian Witness, 25 Nov., 1854. p.190.
?0 Professor Peter F. Harris, a senior member of the

Departrnent of Philosophy, Memorial University of Newfoundland ,
former Di-rector of Studies, St. Edmundrs House, University of
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Entrance Requirements

The high 1eve1 of instruction and examination in both the serninary

and the Theological HaIl meant that some young men were unprepared

by academic background to take advantage of the educational

opportunities with which they were presented at both of these

institutions. Likewise, the professors felt that the progranme was

jeopardized by inadequate prereguisite training on the part of some

students. That this was a matter of considerable concern to the

church is obvious from the several efforts that were made to

correct it. ?1

By 1-853 the entrance reguirements for registration in the Serninary

were as follows: I' a competent acguaintance with the English

Ianguage, Arithmetic, GeograPhY, first three books of Euclid, Latin

and Greek Grarnmars, first book in Latin, four books of Caesar, four

books of ovid, and catalines conspiracy, ( or an amount of Latin

equivalent thereto ), first book in Greek and fifty pages of the

Majora. Exarnination, fot entrance, to turn on the foregoing

l

Cambridge, kindly read the transcribed lecture notes and provided
me with this oPinion.

21 The presbytery of Pictou overtured the Synod in L852 rr to
establish a standard of examination for applicants.before admission
to classes at the Seminary.rr This standird was to be advertised
inrougnout the church and btoks, authorized by Professor Ross' were

to be rnade available to students interested in attendinq the
Seminary and anxious to rneet the prerequisite standards' In
addition, on the reconmendation of Professor Ross, another terrn was

added to the Serninary "ont=L, 
uraking four terns in all' Earlier in

the same year, the Board of duperin€endence, meeting at West River
on 3rd March, reguested Professor Ross to subnit to the Board at
its next meeting 

-ri a standard of qualifications for entrants into
the serninary,,, #ith which n- conplied and later read to the synod,
rneeting in Truro, in the same Year'
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subjects.n ? The success of these entrance requirements was

demonstrated within a year when, after exanining nevt applicants for

registration in the Seminary, the Board noted trmuch gratification

in witnessing the decided superiority of their attainments to those

of previous years and resolved to reconnend then to the

professor, as qualified to enter his Senior Class.rr ?3

The matter of inadequate preparation for classes in the Seminary

was only temporarily solved and came up again in a series of

meetings of the Board of the Seminary. For example, or 24 June,

1856, dt Synod, the Board reported that rr there should be a

preparatory school of some description rr to make up the aeadernic

deficiencies in some of those seeking admission to the Seminary.

At a Board meeting in Truro on l-5 Oet.r1858, the professors stated

that they had accepted into their classes rr some students whose

proficiency felI far short of the standards reguir€d, tt but who had

experienced particular difficulty in obtaining the necessary

education before coming to Seminary. The same complaint was made

again the next year at the autumn rneeting of the Board. This tine

the professors felt that rr the deficiency threatened to interfere

seriously with the working of the classes in the event of these

applicants being received. rt 24 In the spring of 1860 a special

committee of the Board was set-up to assist the professors in the

22 Bye-Laws of the Theological Seminary of
Church of Nova Scotia. Sanctioned by Synod' L852'
the Presbyterian Witness, 25 Nov. L854. p.1-90.

25 Minutes of the Board of Superintendence,

21 rbid . , 18 oct . , l-8 59

the Presbyterian
and published in

March, L853.
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admission of students to the seminary. 25 Previous to this, it had

fromthebeginningbeentheresponsibilityoftheseveral
presbyteriest'toexarnineapplicantsforadnissiontothe
philosophical classes, oD their classical and mathematical

attainrnents, and to certify these to the professor in the same way

in which students are certified on their adnission to the Divinity

HaIl. rr 26

At the end of each academic session, the Board met at west River

for the purpose of exarnining the students on the subjects in which

they had been under instruction during the academic term' This must

have been a most intimidating ordeal for the students' They vtere

givenanora}examinationinthepresenceofthefullBoard

andwereexpectedto'answerguestionsnotonlyfromtheir
professors, but from any member of the Board and from anyone else

who happened to be in the room at the tine' 27 The examination-in-

chiefseemsalwaystohavebeenconductedbyoneofthetwo
professors.

(overtheperiodofthelifeoftheSerninaryatWestRiverthere

were 7 people who were responsible for the minutes of the Board' of

25 rbid. , l-8 APr. ' 
1860

26 This was a decision of the Board at its first meeting on

22nd, Aug. , 1-848t at Lower Stewiake'

?7 The nearest thing we have in academis circles today wourd

appear to be the deferr"" oi-a post-graduate thesis before a panel

of experts a""*"4 "onpeteni 
on^ the €opic under discussion'
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these 7 the most helpful for our purpose was Jarnes Watson, who was

secretary to the Board from 1853 56. His accounts of the

examinations are more detailed than those kept by any of his

colleagues, although we have useful information from them as well. )

The first examination, on 25th June, 1849, following the first

academic sessj-on of the Seminary, was exceedingly thorough. Perhaps

because it was the first examination and the Board was anxious to

exercise its responsibility to the Synod in a responsible nanner,

George Christie, then Secretary, notes that rr the classes were

examined at great length in Logic, Latin, and Greek, and a class in

Hebrew, to the entire satisfaction of the Board. rr 28

After each of the examinations the mernbers of the Board and other

interested parties present, availed themselves of the opportunity

to address the students. It seems that no matter how weII the

students had done in the examinations, they were always encouraged

rr to increased activity.'tt

By October 2nd of the following year there were 2L young men

present during the examinations, in two classes. As a result of a

decision of the Board on that day, it was decided to invite members

of the presbytery of Pictou, presurnably because they found it

easier than most others to be present, and any other nrinisters who

night find it possible to be present, to take part in the

examinations with the Board. As a'consequence of these invitations

there was a large nurnber of people present, including 13 ministers.

The records of the Board for these particular examinations are

scarce, but a correspondent for the Presbyterian Witness has

28 Minutes, op. cit., 25 June , L849
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provided an interesting account of them'

Thefirstyeargroup,theJuniorClass,I'asknownastheLogic
class. 2e These students were examined first' The examination was

conducted by Professor Ross with the topics for the exanination

suggested by the mernbers of the Board and other ninisters present'

The students read a number of essays, mainly on topics connected

withLogic,andwerecloselyguestionedonthem.Theiranswers
revealed how much they clearry understood their subject' since this

was the Junior class, some allowance WaS made with respect to

composition which, although it was guite proficient, was not guite

uptothestandarditwouldachieveinthesecondhalfofthe
course.ThisassumptionwasclearlyjustifiedwhentheSenior

c1ass, examined in Moral Philosophy, presented essays which v/ere

judgedasmodelsofcomposition.Theseniorclass,inadditionto

itsconcentrationonMoralPhilosophy,was'IiketheJuniorClass
before them, examined as well in Geometry and Algebra' Latin and

Greek.Agroupoftheseseniormen'aclassof6orT,hadalso
studied Hebrew and was examined on it as well' As rnuch as a modern

studentmustbeimpressedbytheacademicattainmentsofthese

studentsof]-5oyearsdgo,evenmoreimpressiveisthefactthat

all of these subjects and the examinations in thern were conducted

byonemaninthepersonoftheRev.JamesRoss.Thathisgreat
giftasateacherwastoinspirestudentstoteachthemselvesinno

?9 rrrhe Logic course embraces
powers and theif rnode of operation'
the nature and different kinds of
ine dirrerent modes of reasoning'
universaf Grammar,- ComPosition'
wit.,"==, 25 Nov.,1854' P'1-90'

an analYsis of the intellectual
oi.tittq -particular prominence to
5viaeicl, and of Prejudice, to

and to fallacies,- Aesthetics'
-- ana Elocutionrr' PresbYterian
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way takes anything away from the formidable task with which he was

faced every day. In addition to his academic and administrative

responsibilities at the Seminary, h€ was, at this tine, the

ninister of a large and demanding congregation. That the Board

should have been impressed by the professor and his students is not

surprising. A certain Reverend Mr. Snith, present at the

examinations in 1-850, claimed that the demonstration of proficiency

by the students in the examinations compared favourably with

anything he had known rrin the oId country.rr 30 Once again, ds in

the previous year, dt the close of the exarninations, the students

were addressed by most of the ministers present, comnended on their

attainments thus far, and rrrecommending increased exertion'rr 31

In the autumn of 1851 ( 3rd Sep., ) the exarninations were conducted

with less than half the total number of students that had been

presented themselves in 1850. 32 There were 3 students in the

Logic Class and 7 in the class on Moral Philosophy. The essays of

the students j-n each class were gathered and one from each series

of essays prepared by the student concerned was selected by the

30 Ibid. , 12 oct. , L850. P.325.

31 As reported in the United Secession Magazine, New Series,
Edinburgh, w;. oliphant and sons, MDcccLI, p.37, included in
corresp5ndence to the Editor from a Nova Scotian, signed W'M',
under date 12 Nov.,1850.

32 Some students were absent due to illness and others were
unavoidably absent for other reasons. It is not known whether some

had aroppe-a out of the course, temporarily or otherwise, between
the first and second Years.
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Examiner and read by the young man who had written it' 35 ( Each

student had prepared, oD an average, half-a-dozen essays during

tern. ) The Professor then examined the student on the essay rr in a

rigorous course of interrogation.rr In both Junior and Senior

Classes, the entire class was examined on topics to do with Logic

or Moral Philosophy which were chosen by the Board and on which the

students had done research and written essays. rn addition to the

proceedings having to do with Logic and Moral Philosophy' the

several classes were tt minutely inspected rr in Latin' Greek' and

Mathematics once again with excellent results' The Board' through

its convenor, expressed itself, without hesitation or

gualification, impressed with the diligence and proficiency of the

students and with the enthusiasm and effectiveness of their

professor. one senses that there were times when the examination

process was hurried beyond what was comfortable' one of these times

was the examination of the seminary in L852 ( 31 August) ' The

minutes of the Board report examinations in two classes - Logic and

33 Some indication of the seriousness of these essays wil-l be

obvious at """"-ir"m-the 
l-ist of narnes and topics that foll-ows:

(a) Logic - John Mckinnon -rr The Modern systems of Philosophyrl
william Fraser - rrThe Different Modes of Reasoningrl
Daniel MacDonald - rr SoPhisms rl
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(b) Moral PhilosoPhY
Alex Cameron
Al1an Fraser
David Terhune

George Roddick
John Currie

rr The lrnmortalitY of the Soulrl
rr The Freedom of The Willrl
rr The Advantages of a Liberal
Educationtttt Political EconomYtt
rr The Various Theories of

John Hardie
John Matheson

The toPics and names
Presbyterian Witness, 20

Consciencerl
It Autumn rl

rr The Existence of DeitY rl

come frorn a report pubtished in the
Sep.,l-851. P-303
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Natural Philosophy. According to the Bye-Laws of the Seminary,

sanctioned by Synod in l-852 and advertised as the curriculum in

1854, this would mean the first and third year classes. In any

case, there were 24 students in allr- 7 in the Logic Class and L7

in the Natural Philosophy group. The Junior Class was examined, as

in previous years, by each man reading in turn from an essay, one

of a series, he had researched and written during the tetm. In

addition the professor examined them on the rrExternal Senses.rl

The class in Natural Philosophy was examined in the same WBY, with

the exception of the general topic of Optics, which the Board

selected for examination, as $/as its privilege. In each of the

several classes the examinations included the classical languages

and mathematics as in previous years.These examinations went on

rrup until the time of the opening of the Theological HaI1, fr which

rather creates the impression of running short of tine.

A change in the Secretary to the Board, from Jarnes Bayne to James

Watson, means that the minutes of the Board are more detailed and

therefore more interesting than they had been during the tenure of

the previous Secretary. There is, of course, a repetition in the

rnethod of examination from year to year, and it would be tedious to

record the separate examination details for each of the ten years

the Serninary was at the West River. It is, however, more than

ordinarily informative to review the content of the annual

examination proceedings in order to appreciate the consistently

high standard of instruction and research that narked the

educational program at the Seminary.

For example, during the examination proceedings in the autumn of



L8

l_853 ( 31st August),rr a few guestions were put on Logic in general,

and then a searching examination gone into on the pohter of

conception and memory. tr The topic of the examination, chosen by the

Board, gave the students no advance warning of what they night

expect. They knew, of course, that they would read and answer

guestions from one of a series of essays they had prepared during

the term. They knew too that the essay in guestion would be

selected for them by the professor and/or Board in consultation

with hirn. what they did not know was the topic outside the interest

of the essays that might be put forward for discussion and

examination. The topics of the essays themselves indicate that they

were well within the upper range of undergraduate work for that

day, whether in Logic or Moral Phi-losophy. In the Moral Philosophy

class of 1853 the topic sel-ected by the Board for particular

discussion was The Liberty of The will . After a detailed

questioning on this topic, the students read from one of their term

essays, each one an essay on a topic different from his fellows'

The Secretary commented:r'The state of the classes seemed excellent'

and in advance of what it was last year' rr 34

With Mr. Watson as Secretary, we are given the content of the

Ianguage examinations for the first time, 35 and some indication,

31 Minutes , oP Cit. , 3 J- Aug. 
' 
l-853

35 Junior Class examined in Latin on Virgil
rr in Greek on extracts frort

XenoPhonrs AnabYsis
" in Latin on Juvenal
rr in Greek on extracts from the

OdysseY
In geometry several problems were demonstrated on the

blackboard and/or worked out on slates'
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although no detail, of what was required in the area of

nathematics. He included a conment which seems to have reflected

the tone for the entire proceedings: rrAfter tendering a few

appropriate and solemn admonitions to the young men, the

examinations terminated. rr Much, I should think, to the relief of

the young men!

The examinations in l-854 ( 5th-6th September ) were judged by the

Board to have been the best of any until that time.s
*********************

The examination of the young men in the Serninary maintained its

integrity throughout the period of tine at the West River. There is

evidence, however, that with the appointnent of a second professor

in the person of Thomas McCullochrJr.,in 1854, and the addition of

a new course from time to time, the exarnination procedure was more

rushed than it had been at the beginning. Sometimes it had to be

terrninated by the Order of the Day for the opening of the

Theological HaII, which met in tandem with the closing of the

Seminary. And when the Serninary moved to TrurorNova Scotiarthe

examination procedure was considerably revised in the interests of

efficiency. There is no doubt though, that the students who went

through the West River Seminary were worthy graduates of that

Iittle institution by the tine they passed their final

examinations.

The extraordinary guality of the lectures with which each session

began, the cautious procedure that was followed for the appointnent

1854; Presbyterian Witness, L4 Oct., 1854'
P.1'62.te

Ibid.,7 sep.,
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of a second professor' the policies that prornoted the grrowth of the

Seminary library and the politics that determined the site of the

Seminary are matters for which there is no time in this paper' One

of the most interesting issues to come before the synod on an

annual basis, after 1848, was the determination of a permanent site

for the Seminary. The personal and theological politics that }ay

behind the removal of the serninary fron the t{est River to Truro are

at once disappointing and compelling in the light they shed on some

of the most significant personarities of the day. That story, with

the others, must await another opportunity of this kind'
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